
Budget Commission Minutes  1 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

CITY OF CORVALLIS 
BUDGET COMMISSION MEETING 

FEBRUARY 5, 2009 
 
The City of Corvallis Budget Commission meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. on February 
3, 2009, in the Fire Station Main Meeting Room, 400 NW Harrison Boulevard, Corvallis, 
Oregon, with Chair Jacque Schreck presiding. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Present: Commissioners Mike Beilstien (7:02), Dan Brown, Barbara Bull, Karyle Butcher, 

Tim Cadman, Rich Carone, John Davis, Guy Hendrix, Richard Hervey (7:52), 
Joel Hirsch, Mark O’Brien, Jeanne Raymond, Barbara Ross (8:16), Jacque 
Schreck 

 
Excused: Commissioners Elizabeth French and Patricia Daniels 
 
Visitors: Mayor Tomlinson, Joyce Willcox, Aleita Hass-Holcombe, Paulene McGinty, Jim 

Gouveia, Rachel Medema, Margaret Calcoth, Marion McNamara, Hundley J. 
Bergstad, Brad Upton, Jack Schubert, Susan Christie, Rich Donovan, Gerry 
Perrone, Ken Elwer, Sheriff Diana Simpson, Austen Samet, Tim Flowerday, 
Jessica Sandrock, Joleen Schilling, Helen Higgins,  Judith Edelstein, Betty 
Griffiths, Annette Mills 

Staff:  Jon Nelson, Nancy Brewer, Tony Krieg, Janet Chenard, Tim Bates, Lisa Namba, 
Jim Mitchell, Steve Rogers, Carolyn Rawles-Heiser, Mike Dohn (Recorder) 

 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 

 
Information 

Only 

 
Held for 

Further Review 

 
 

Action/Recommendations 

 
I. Update from Staff 

 
X 

 
 

 
 

 
II. Public Comment 

 
X 

 
 

 
 

 
III. Adjournment 

 
 

 
 

 
Adjourned at 9:01pm 

 
Chair Schreck called the meeting to order at 7:01 pm. She briefly introduced the minutes from the 
January 22, 2009 meeting (Attachment 4A). Chair Schreck noted a couple of changes that needed 
to be made. On the second page the nominations and seconds are reversed. On the bottom of page 
3 there is a misspelling of a name. Commissioner Hamby moved the minutes and Commissioner 
Brown seconded. The minutes passed unanimously as corrected.  
 
 

 
I.    UPDATE FROM STAFF  



Budget Commission Minutes  2 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

 
Finance Director Nancy Brewer introduced some handouts including email handouts of citizen 
testimony (Attachment 4B), a two-page memo of answers to follow-up questions from previous 
meetings (Attachment 4C), and an updated enhancement summary page (Attachment 4D).  
 

II.      PUBLIC COMMENT 
  

CORVALLIS DAYTIME DROP IN CENTER 
 
Citizen Joyce Willcox expressed her support for funding of the Corvallis Daytime Drop-In 
Center. Ms. Willcox stated a majority of the homeless have mental or physical problems 
requiring medication. She stressed some of the medication needs are non-prescription requests 
and require additional funds. Often times these prescriptions can’t be purchased through the  
relationship with the Benton County Health Clinic. Ms. Willcox stated there are donations from 
others, but more is still needed.  

 
Commissioner Butcher asked how long of a period would the request for $1,000 cover. Ms. 
Willcox believed it would be for a one year period.   

 
Commissioner Beilstein asked if Ms Willcox was aware of the social service spending 
allocations where the City allocates about $400,000 a year for these types of requests in a 
competitive process. Ms. Willcox stated that others speaking on behalf of the Center will be up 
later to speak on that.  

 
Citizen Pauline McGinty spoke on behalf of supporting funding for the homeless. Ms. McGinty 
has volunteered at the Corvallis Daytime Drop-In Center and read from a handout from the 
Center’s Board of Directors (Attachment 4E) expressing her support. Ms. McGinty also stated 
that according to a study by Benton County there are about 130 homeless individuals.  
 
Aleita Hass-Holcombe also spoke from the same handout (Attachment 4E) which mentions each 
of their five funding requests: 

• $5,000 Miscellaneous fund. 
• $1,000 to cover prescriptions and medical needs.  
• $2,000 to use as part of the match for an AmeriCorps Volunteer. 
• $15,000 in combination with other funds to support an mental health outreach worker. 
• $5,000 in a revolving loan to help with move-in housing costs (would be paid back). 

 
Ms. Hass-Holcombe also stated the reason for not going to the social service funding mechanism 
route was because they did not want to take anything away from the other nonprofits already 
needing the funding.  
 
Citizen Jim Gouveia spoke to the $15,000 request for a mental health outreach worker listed in 
the handout. Mr. Gouveia stated the core reasons people are on the street are due to mental 
health issues or drug and/or alcohol abuse or addiction. He stated that if you can get a mental 
health outreach worker who can relate to the individuals out on the streets it may help to get 
them off of the streets and get the care they need.  



Budget Commission Minutes  3 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

 
Citizen Rachel Medema spoke on behalf of the $2,000 match for the AmeriCorps Volunteer. She 
stated it was a great program and that she has personal experience with the program. Ms. 
Medema also stated this request, if granted, would be matched by AmeriCorps, which doubles 
what would be coming into the fund.  
 
Citizen Margaret Calcoth spoke on behalf of homelessness by bringing forth a couple ideas that 
may help with the problem. She stated one of the largest problems with homeless camps is the 
garbage and sanitary conditions. Her idea was to have garbage and temporary bathrooms for the 
camps if the City were to designate certain areas for them. She stated the cost for these items for 
two camps would be under $600.00 a month and cost could be spread across all the churches 
within the city.  
 
Citizen Marion McNamara spoke on behalf of funding the $5,000 revolving fund for the 
homeless. This fund would be used for covering the deposits associated with moving into a 
place. These funds could then be paid back over time.  
 
Citizen Hundley J. Bergstad supported the $5,000 miscellaneous fund for the homeless. He 
stated that health care is a major issue among the homeless and although $5,000 isn’t enough, it 
is a good beginning.  
 
Commissioner Butcher asked which of the requests were ongoing as opposed to one-time 
requests and furthermore, if they would have funding in place to support the remaining cost of 
the mental health outreach worker. Ms. Hass-Holcombe stated they have a person who 
specializes in grant writing and if the City shows support in putting forth the $15,000 then she 
believes that person could move forward in finding grant funds. Commissioner Butcher asked for 
clarification as to whether this was a one-time cost or ongoing. Ms. Hass-Holcombe stated this is 
a one-time cost. She also stated a miscellaneous fund and prescription fund would more likely be 
on-going costs.  
 
Commissioner Butcher also asked what work group the mental health outreach worker would 
work out of. Ms. Hass-Holcombe stated they would likely work with the mental health group out 
of the 10-year plan, but it still has yet to be determined.  
 
BPAC ADDITIONAL 0.5 FTE  
 
Citizen Brad Upton spoke on behalf of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Commission 
(BPAC) in support of the 0.5 FTE increase (Attachment 3G). The total cost of the 0.5 FTE 
increase is $58,700. Mr. Upton stated currently the City has a 0.5 FTE bicycle and pedestrian 
staff person and this would increase it to fulltime. He also referenced several points of 
justification as well as what benefits could be reached by the addition of this FTE (Attachment 
3G).   
 
Citizen Jack Schubert expressed his support for the additional FTE. Mr. Schubert stated the 
community could definitely cut down on oil imports as well as relieving some parking 
congestion downtown with the addition of staff  which could support and promote biking.  



Budget Commission Minutes  4 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

 
Citizen Susan Christie showed support for the additional FTE. Ms. Christie stated she is the vice 
president of the Mid-Valley Bike Club which has a significant number of miles logged on 
Benton County and Corvallis roads. She also introduced the concept of the 20-minute 
Neighborhood by which everyone lives within a 20-minute walk of essential services and stated 
it could be a possibility in Corvallis. Ms. Christie stated adding this position would be a great 
first step in the move to the 21st century and submitted a letter of support (Attachment 4F).  
 
Citizen Wendy Byrne supported the additional FTE. She stated this was the third year in a row 
asking for this position and the need is not going away.  
 
Citizen Greg Bennett supported the additional FTE. He stated this is an opportune time to move 
forward and solidify funding for bicyclists, pedestrians, and transportation demand management.  
 
Commissioner Cadman clarified as to whether or not this was to add a full-time FTE or just a 0.5 
FTE. Finance Director Brewer stated this is only an addition of 0.5 FTE to make a full-time 
position. Commissioner Cadman additionally asked about the materials and services cost of the 
position and what that would be used for. Public Works Director Steve Rogers stated the service 
cost of the position goes to production of publications and brochures, and promotional items for 
citizens. He also stated the materials and supplies go for the cost of the actual items.  
 
Commissioner Beilstein asked Mr. Bennett if he would comment a little on Transportation 
Demand Management (TDM) and the Willamette River Crossing, specifically the costs we 
would have if we do not deal with TDM. Mr. Bennett stated we could possibly expect it to take 
15-30 minutes to travel one mile on several streets in Corvallis. He went on to state that 
emphasis needs to be spent on TDM because of traffic congestion in the future.  
 
COMMUNITY OUTREACH 
 
Citizens Rich Donovan and Gerry Perrone from Community Outreach spoke as an informational 
request from Commissioner Ross. Mr. Donovan stated Community Outreach assumed the 
operations of the now defunct Mid-Valley Housing Plus which was a program that provides case 
management services to 50+ folks who live in the Benton Plaza and are disabled.  He went on to 
state that in the current year COI has had to reduce their staff by five positions. The request for 
funding they submitted is the usual request, with an additional $40,000. He reiterated this is only 
informational at this time and funding would be sought in the future.  
 
Vice Chair Brauner clarified the additional request was through social service allocations and the 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG). Mr. Donovan said the requests were sent to 
social service funding process.  
 
Commissioner Beilstein asked if the additional funds with Mid Valley Plus would total $40,000 
or if it was in addition to the $40,000. Mr. Donovan stated the total is about $59,000, with the 
additional $39,000 going to an extra case worker and facilities. He stated their goal is to keep 
people in their homes and try to find the least costly way to support people to live independently.  
 



Budget Commission Minutes  5 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

4.0 FTE INCREASE FOR DISPATCHERS / 4.0 FTE INCREASE FOR POLICE OFFICERS 
City of Philomath Police Chief Ken Elwer expressed his support for 4.0 FTE increase for 
additional dispatchers for the Regional-911 Center. Chief Elwer stated he is the Chair of the 911 
Committee which oversees the Regional 911 Center in Corvallis and adding four new 
dispatchers would be a great first step in increasing services to the community. 
 
Benton County Sheriff Diana Simpson also stated her support for the 4.0 FTE increase for 
additional dispatchers. Sheriff Simpson commented that with increased cellular phone use and 
Benton County’s efforts at building back its law enforcement staffing there will be a greater 
demand of the 911-Center. She stated as it is now, officers between the City of Philomath, City 
of Corvallis, and Benton County are struggling for airtime. Allowing this FTE increase will 
increase the level of services to all groups and help Benton County extend it’s radio operability.  
 
City Administrator for the City of Adair Village, Drew Foster, expressed support for the 911 
Center FTE enhancement. Mr. Foster stated they are in the beginning stages of their police force 
and although they won’t necessarily be out in patrols at this time, in the future this enhancement 
will be of great value to them.  
 
Citizen Jack Schubert expressed support for the 4.0 FTE increase for police officers. He stated 
the police department is doing great with what they have, but he definitely sees the need for 
additional support.  
 
Vice Chair Brauner stated the 911 Center is a shared cost between the cities and county and want 
to be sure funding was secured in the other two parties. Both Chief Elwer and Sheriff Simpson 
stated it wouldn’t be a problem.  
 
Commissioner Raymond asked how many dispatchers are currently in the 911 Center and about 
how much each party is contributing to the funding. Chief Elwer stated there are currently 14 
dispatchers and gave a breakdown of cost percentages of all agencies (Attachment 1F, pg 70). 
Sheriff Simpson added that as her department increases officers their percentage will most likely 
increase.  

 
Commissioner O’Brien inquired about what the impact of additional officers and dispatchers 
may have on the community. Sheriff Simpson stated she doesn’t believe there is a community 
out there in this country that wouldn’t be asking for additional officers. She said dispatchers are 
a very important asset to them and by the year 2013 they will have moved to digital radios which 
will mean an increased demand for dispatchers. Chief Elwer said, “If you add four more officers 
on the street it will generate more calls and airtime is already tight as it is.”  
 
BEAVER BUS ENHANCEMENT 
 
ASOSU representative Austen Samet spoke on Beaver Bus enhancement request (Attachment 
3F). Ms. Samet also passed out a Beaver Bus brochure and ridership statistics (Attachment 4G). 
She stated this is an ongoing request and the City has funded a portion of the Beaver Bus for the 
last 3 years. The request is for $21,820 which represents about 30% of operating budget for the 
Beaver Bus.  She went on to say this relates to one of City Council’s goal on community 



Budget Commission Minutes  6 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

livability helping deter assaults, vandalism, public disturbances, and drunk driving. Ms. Samet 
pointed out the ridership statistics graph which showed an increase in ridership compared to the 
last two years.  
 
Commissioner Cadman inquired if the request was going to be ongoing or one-time. Ms. Samet 
stated it was an ongoing request and based on a percentage.  
 
Commissioner Hervey asked what percentage of Beaver Bus riders were students as compared to 
community members. Ms. Samet commented that in a poll conducted last week, 35% were 
community members and 65% were OSU students but it could vary as much as 50% each way.  
 
MAJESTIC THEATRE ENHANCEMENT 
 
Tim Flowerday, Executive Director of the Majestic Theatre, expressed the need for funding 
support (Attachment 2D). He stated in the time he has been there (over the past year) they have 
made improvements that benefit  the community in both performing arts and education. They 
have increased the schedule of performances and substantially improved the appearance of the 
building. Mr. Flowerday briefly referred to some statistical information listed in a handout 
(Attachment 3E). He went on to state that due to some seismic upgrades the theatre will need to 
remained closed for about 5 months resulting in lost revenue of between $20,000 and $30,000. 
He stated they have been able to find other facilities to keep operations moving, but there will be 
costs associated with this. Mr. Flowerday wanted to further clarify that this may be a two-fold 
request because in the next fiscal year they will experience the second phase of the seismic 
upgrade resulting in a closure of two months.  
 
Commissioner Beilstein inquired if there were additional funds given to the Majestic Theatre 
besides the building and maintenance costs. Mr. Flowerday stated that additional funds have 
totaled about $50,000 over the last two years minus what is paid in City held endowments that 
benefits the Majestic Theatre. He also stated the interest earned on the endowment due to the 
economy has been rather low, but the request isn’t due to the endowment but rather the closure.  
 
Commissioner Butcher asked if the Majestic Theatre would try to maintain the salaries of staff 
through the closure. Mr. Flowerday stated they are trying to maintain staff by finding offsite 
projects that generate revenue and maintain educational programs and performances. They are 
also looking at doing a theater presentation outdoors. He stated the money they lose is the 
revenue lost when other groups rent from them.  
  
Commissioner Carone asked if the theater would have to layoff staff if this enhancement is not 
granted. Mr. Flowerday stated that is a high possibility. Commissioner Carone then asked if it 
were possible to put off the seismic upgrades until better times so there wouldn’t be a layoff of 
staff. Mr. Flowerday stated he has been working with the Public Works Department ( Building 
Maintenance Supervisor Robert Fenner) to try and minimize the facility impact and as a result,  
they will be able to keep two classrooms open during the upgrade. Mr. Flowerday also stated 
putting off the upgrade could potentially make damage worse. He went on to state that from the 
City perspective, the funds in the CIP project are available now and if you put it off they may not 
be available in the future.  



Budget Commission Minutes  7 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

 
CORVALLIS ENVIRONMENTAL CENTER 
 
Citizen Jessica Sandrock spoke on behalf of the Corvallis Environment Center in support of their 
enhancement request for $10,000 (Attachment 3D). Ms. Sandrock briefly went over some of the 
accomplishments from last year with the $15,000 they were granted from the City. She stated 
they have continued to try and make the City’s contribution less every year which is currently 
down to 4% of their revenue. 
 
Commissioner Beilstein asked if the City has any contractual agreements with the 
Environmental Center. Citizen Joleen Schilling stated there is currently an agreement for the 
Avery House Nature Center program and a partnership with the Parks and Recreation 
Department. 
 
BOYS AND GIRLS CLUB REQUEST  
 
Helen Higgins, Executive Director of the Boys and Girls Club of Corvallis, spoke on the need 
for financial services by the club. She stated that as with other nonprofits, funding is spread thin 
and she is requesting $35,000 to fund the cost of 35 children a year. Ms. Higgins went on to say 
about 35% of their members are low-income and struggle to pay membership fees. She believes 
the club is a great asset to the community and keeps kids out of the juvenile system.  

 
Commissioner Cadman wanted to clarify what exactly the $35,000 was for. Ms. Higgins stated it 
was to cover the cost to the club for about 35 members. She also said the actual yearly cost for a 
member is only $25.00 and they purposely keep it low to allow anyone to join. The remaining 
cost for the children is then subsidized by the club, which has to raise about $550,000 annually. 
 
Commissioner Carone asked if this was a one-time request or ongoing. Ms. Higgins said she was 
hearing from other testimony that there are possibilities of having ongoing support and would 
like to seek that in the future.  
 
Commissioner Hamby asked what are some of the other major funding sources for the club. Ms. 
Higgins stated their most significant funding sources come from the donations of community 
members. They do not receive any funding from the City, County, State, or federal government. 
Other revenue derives from membership fees and any grants they may receive.  
 
Commissioner Bull asked if the revenue has gone down or has cost gone up. Ms. Higgins stated 
both have occurred. The minimum wage increase has really hurt the budget along with the 
donations going down.  
 
LIBRARY ENHANCEMENT REQUESTS 
 
Citizen Judith Edelstein spoke in support of the two library requests, one for the sprinkler system 
and the other for quarter-time reference librarian. Ms. Edelstein stated there were obvious safety 
issues associated with the sprinkler request and if there could be consequences for not taking 
care of it in due time. She also stated regarding the quarter time position libraries will get you 



Budget Commission Minutes  8 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

through the tough economic times. This is a time when things are tight and libraries across the 
nation are getting more use. The person in this position would engage in community outreach, 
have the ability to teach patrons about the library service, conduct cultural programming, and 
help library users with their needs. She concluded by saying there will definitely be a strong 
demand for this position in the future.  
 
CORVALLIS SUSTAINABILITY COALITION 

 
Betty Griffiths and Annette Mills, Co-Facilitators of the Corvallis Sustainability Coalition, 
requested funding of $75,000 for the Community Sustainability Action Plan (Attachment 4H). 
Ms. Griffiths stated Council rated community sustainability support as one of their goals at a 
recent work session meeting.  
 
Ms. Mills stated the coalition formed in January of 2007 and is a network of 137 partner 
organizations working together for a sustainable community. The coalition is staffed entirely by 
volunteers who have spent several hours developing and implementing a process to create a 
Corvallis Sustainability Plan. Ms. Mills went on to say that over the past couple of months they 
have establish action teams to work on specific areas in the plan.  
 
Ms. Griffiths stated a majority of the efforts by these action teams will be done by volunteers, 
but in order to move forward with projects listed in the Community Sustainability Action Plan 
$50,000 is needed for an Action Plan Coordinator and $25,000 for the action team projects. She 
stressed this investment in the Corvallis Sustainability Coalition will go a long ways in 
supporting the efforts of the volunteers.  
 
Commissioner Beilstein inquired about the other sources of funding for the coalition or if it is 
solely based off the City’s contribution. Ms. Griffiths stated they have made a request to Benton 
County for $10,000 for the project presented, but they have not put together a finalized budget 
for the next year. She also anticipated the coalition to petition for some grants. 
 
Commissioner Butcher asked whether the $50,000 was for a full-time position or part-time and 
whether or not that was with benefits or without. Ms. Griffiths stated they have had the 
opportunity to discuss whether or not it would be a City paid position or a position solely for the 
coalition. Commissioner Butcher then asked what the $25,000 would do for the program if they 
did not receive the $50,000. Ms. Griffiths stated it would simply mean there wouldn’t be seed 
money for the action team projects.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Chair Schreck stated with all the public testimony complete she would like to suggest not to 
begin deliberations tonight, but begin it on February 12. She also reminded the commission to be 
very careful with the City’s funds or your neighbor’s funds and stressed they have the 
opportunity to support some very good programs that will benefit all residents.  
 
Commissioner Butcher asked if the City’s goal was to complete deliberations at the next 
meeting. Chair Schreck stated it was and to complete recommendations for staff.  



Budget Commission Minutes  9 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

 
Commissioner Bull asked if Chair Schreck could give a brief description to what is expected at 
the next meeting. Chair Schreck stated there will be a discussion of where the Commission is 
philosophically with ending fund balances and levels of service, then move on to motions for the 
Capital Improvement Programs, then begin working on the enhancement, and concluding with 
discussion of future meetings.  
 
Commissioner Ross inquired if there was a summary of updated enhancements based on 
tonight’s meeting. Chair Schreck stated staff was working on it and would bring it to the next 
meeting.  
 
Commissioner Butcher asked if there are any underlying rules to abide by that say what the City 
will or will not fund. She stated in the economic times of today there seem to be more and more 
requests for funding from groups that may not normally be asking for it. Commissioner Brown 
stated there are some Council policies on the subject and would be happy to start up 
conversations on the topic.  
 
Commissioner Hervey wanted to clarify the process as to what is expected from the 
commissioners as far recommendations go. Chair Schreck stated a motion can be made to accept 
a budget followed by amendments to the motion and then proceed onto enhancements.  
 
Commissioner Beilstein stated there are a number of areas where the City does work (funds) 
where as other cities may not. He stated most cities do not have a social service budget and most 
of the time those services are provided by the County and state. Commissioner Butcher 
commented that there seems to be a line between the services that keep people alive versus the 
services that keep coming back each year.  
 
Vice Chair Brauner clarified at the next meeting we will be giving staff direction on the 
proposed budget. The motions will involve what enhancements to approve to place in the 
proposed budget.  
 
Chair Schreck reminded the commission of the funds set aside for social service allocations and 
economic development allocations where entities can compete for the funds through an 
application process. 
 
Commissioner Hamby inquired to what the new total for enhancement were. Budget Analyst 
Janet Chenard stated there were three new requests she added and a new total for all requests 
was $1,321,740 excluding any revenue or cost sharing assets. 
 
Commissioner Davis wanted to clarify that as the Commission does its homework to keep in 
mind that Council has sent a recommendation for enhancements not to exceed $600,000. Vice 
Chair stated council discussed what they thought to be appropriate fund balances what is 
thought to be a good amount for enhancements, but Budget Commission is free to do as they 
see fit.  

 
III. ADJOURNMENT 



Budget Commission Minutes  10 of 10 February 5, 2009 
 

 
The meeting was adjourned 9:02p.m. 
 
SUMMARY OF ATTACHMENTS 
 

• Attachment 4A – January 22, 2009 Minutes 
• Attachment 4B – Citizen Testimony Emails 
• Attachment 4C – Follow-up Questions Memo 
• Attachment 4D – Updated Summary Enhancement 
• Attachment 4E – Fighting Homeless Enhancement 
• Attachment 4F – BPAC Letter of Support 
• Attachment 4G – Beaver Bus Brochure and Ridership Trend 
• Attachment 4H – Corvallis Sustainability Coalition Enhancement 

  
Respectfully Submitted: 
 
 
_________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Budget Commission Secretary  Finance Director 


